6.00

047

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. : 89,623 DCA CASE NO. : 95-4099

MX INVESTMENTS, INC., d/b/a DAYS INN 1-75,

Petitioner,

vs .

WILLIAM D. CRAWFORD and JOAN F. CRAWFORD,

Respondent.

FILED
sid J. WHITE

FEB 26 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

PETITIONER'S INI' BRIEF

BOEHM, BROWN, RIGDON, SEACREST & FISCHER, P.A.

By:

FRANCIS J. Post Office Box 6511

Daytona Beach, FL 32122

(904) 258-3341

Attorneys for Petitioner

Fla. Bar No. 363928

/kca

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

All record references will be designated at "R.____." "R" refers to record on appeal as tabulated by the Circuit Court in its index to record on appeal in the appeal below.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case originated in the Circuit Court for Alachua County, with a complaint for personal injury made by the Respondent against the Petitioner. (R.1-3). Subsequently, on June 1, 1994 and October 21, 1994 Petitioner filed offers of judgment, pursuant to \$768.79 of the Flarida Statutes (1995). (R.11-15). Respondent did not accept the offer. Subsequently, the Respondent filed a notice of voluntary dismissal without prejudice pursuant to Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.420. (R.8). The Petitioner moved to tax attorneys fees and costs based upon \$768.79.

The trial court denied the motion to tax costs. Petitioner appealed the trial court's order to the First District Court of Appeal. The First District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's ruling, although it recognized, and certified conflict with cases from other district courts of appeal which allowed fees to be taxed after a voluntary dismissal. The first district denied rehearing and rehearing en banc. The Petitioner then timely filed a notice to invoke the jurisdiction of this Honorable Court. This court accepted jurisdiction, and sent out an order for briefing schedule. This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court of appeal opinion holding that attorney fees pursuant to \$768.79 of the Florida Statutes (1991) should not be imposed after a voluntary dismissal is taken by the plaintiff, is an incorrect interpretation of 5768.79.

Section 768.79 was amended specifically to include all instances were a defendant has prevailed, either by verdict, or dismissal. The amendment was accomplished by the legislature specifically in response to cases that interpreted the earlier statute in a manner in which a defendant was prohibited from seeking fees unless the plaintiff had obtained a judgment.

The district court of appeal opinion ignores the effect of the amended statute, and further conflicts with the weight of authority. Thus, the statute should be interpreted to allow a defendant to recover fees for a voluntary dismissal.

ARGUMENT

Whether the District Court erred in holding that attorneys fees would not be recovered by a defendant under \$768.79 where a plaintiff had voluntarily dismissed their case.

I. INTRODUCTION

The simple issue in this case is whether the district court's interpretation of the amended version of \$768.79 is correct, as the facts are undisputed, and require little analysis. Simply put, the plaintiff, had taken a voluntary dismissal pursuant to Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.420, during the time that the amended version of \$768.79 was in effect. In order to decide this question, petitioner submits that a short discussion of the earlier version of \$768.79 is appropriate.

OF \$768.79

The discussion of Florida Courts treatment of 768.79 before it was amended, gives a clear understanding of the effect and intent of the amendment to that statute. Originally, \$768.79 was enacted as part of Florida's Tort Reform Act. As such, it was designed to encourage the parties to realistically evaluate and settle cases, by providing for a penalty for parties that unnecessarily litigated cases. Eagleman v. Eagleman, 673 So.2d 946 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). Thus, the statute was designed to penalize a party that was recalcitrant or unwilling to compromise, by providing for an award of attorneys fees to the other party making the offer, provided certain conditions were met, namely that the offer be made in good faith, and that the judgment exceeds 25% of the original offer, or where the plaintiff obtained a judgment at least 25% less than the

defendant's offer. §768.79(1).

Specifically, the language of \$768.79 provided as follows, in part:

In any action to which this part applies, if a defendant files an offer of judgment which is not accepted by the plaintiff within 30 days, the defendant shall be entitled to recover reasonable costs and attorney's fees incurred from the date of filing of the offer if the judgment obtained by the plaintiff is at least 25 percent less than such offer....

Subsequently, Florida courts had interpreted this section to mean in essence, that the statutory provisions would be activated only where the plaintiff had obtained a judgment. In instances where a defendant obtained a judgment, courts interpreted the statute so as to prohibit an award of fees. **See Makar v. Investors**Real Estate Management, Inc., **553** So. 2d **298** (Fla. 1st **DCA** 1989).

III. THE AMENDED STATUTE

Apparently recognizing the anomaly of a situation where a complete success would deny a defendant an award of attorneys fees, the Florida legislature amended \$768.79, in 1990, as follows:

In any civil action for damages filed in the court of this state, if a defendant files an offer of judgment which is not accepted by the plaintiff within 30 days, the defendant shall be entitled to recover reasonable costs and attorney's fees incurred by him or on his behalf pursuant to a policy of liability insurance or other contract from the date of filing of the offer if the judgment is one of no liability or the judgment obtained by the plaintiff is at least 25 percent less than such offer....

The amended statute further provides that the court is to make this determination upon motion made within 30 days after <u>inter</u> <u>alia</u>, a <u>voluntary</u> dismissal. §768,79(6), (Emphasis supplied).

The amended statute clearly applies to judgments rendered in favor of the defendant. Thus, several subsequent district courts expressly held that the revised, or amended version of \$768.79 provided for an award of attorneys fees after a voluntary dismissal. See Tampa Letter Carriers, Inc. v. Mack, 649 \$0.2d 890 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995).

IV. THE PRESENT DECISION

In the opinion below, the appellate court held that a defendant would not be entitled to an award of attorneys fees under \$768.79, after the plaintiff filed a voluntary dismissal, despite the statutory change. MX Investments, Inc. v. Crawford, Case No. 95-4099. The appellate court held that "Our opinion in Makar v. Investors Real Estate Management, Inc., 553 So.2d 298 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), controls this case." (Slip. op. at p.2). As stated above, the court in Makar, interpreting the statute as it existed before amendment in 1990, held that the finding of liability in favor of the plaintiff was required before a defendant was entitled to attorneys fees.

Despite acknowledging in Crawford, that \$768.79 was amended, the court stated that its holding in Makar was not madified by the change. The court stated "We construe the 'voluntary and involuntary dismissal' language in subsection (b) to be no more than a procedural prerequisite for a determination of entitlement. Actual entitlement to fees under the amended statute still requires the entry of a judgment," (Slip. op. at p.4) (Emphasis Courts). The court went on to state that "because there was no judgment entered following the voluntary dismissal in this case, the plain

language of §768.79 precludes an award of attorneys fees." (Slip. op. at p.5),

The decision below, has, misapprehended both the effect of a voluntary dismissal and the effect of the statutory amendments on prior caselaw. Initially, the court has overlooked that provision of Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.420, which addresses voluntary dismissals. Rule 1.420 specifically provides that a cost judgment be entered against a party who takes a voluntary dismissal, and further provides that the plaintiff cannot proceed forward until that cost judgment is satisfied. This procedure is mandatory. Thus, in contrast to the appellate opinion, there would be, and in fact was, in the instant case, a cost judgment entered. As defined by Section 768,79(6)(b), the term "judgment obtained" means the amount of the net judgment entered, plus any post-offer collateral source payments received or due as of the date of the judgment, plus any post-offer settlement amounts by which the verdict was Thus, taken the undisputed facts in this case, the reduced. judgment obtained by the plaintiff (Respondent) was more than 25% less than the offers made by the defendant. (Petitioner). Further, the statute specifically states that the trial court is to make this calculation after a motion filed by the defense within thirty days after a voluntary dismissal.

Therefore, <u>Makar</u>, and the other cases holding that there must be a judgment in favor of the plaintiff, have been effectively superseded by the amended statute. Clearly, the version of 768.79, which was in effect as of the date of the offers, contemplate an award of attorneys fees wherever a judgment obtained by the

plaintiff is less than 25% of the offer, and the statute further explicitly states that the motion for attorneys fees is to be made within thirty days after a voluntary dismissal. Thus, the lower court was in error in refusing to reverse the trial court's denial of attorneys fees.

V. ANALYSIS OF THE DECISION

It is clear that the appellate court has misconstrued the effect of the amended statute. Actually, the appellate court in the lower case, has negated the statute, by in effect, holding that the statute does not apply to voluntary dismissals despite explicit language to the contrary. Initially, it should be pointed out that the amended statute operates on two levels as earlier pointed out by this Court in TGI Fridays, Inc. v. Dvorak, 663 So.2d 606 (Fla. 1995). In that case, this Court indicated that the right to an award turns only on the difference between the amount of a rejected offer and the amount of a later judgment. Thus, the triggering mechanism for the provisions of the statute, in the context of this case, is when the judgment does not exceed 75% of the offer. Therefore, Crawford conflicts with Dvorak, when it holds that \$768.79(6) only provides a "procedural" requirement.

As indicated in the statute, the determination is made by the trial court upon motion by the defendant after a jury verdict, or after a voluntary or involuntary dismissal. Clearly, at that point, the calculation, as indicated above, would take place, attorneys fees awarded, and judgment entered. See §768,79(6), Therefore, the "judgment" referred to by Crawford, is a judgment, which would be obtained by a defendant in any case, whether

terminated by a voluntary dismissal or otherwise. Further, voluntary dismissal under Rule 1.420, always contemplates a cost judgment being entered by the trial court. The Crawford analysis is flawed, as the clear operation of the rule would contemplate a judgment being entered. Further, Crawford relied upon cases, which it recognized, that pre-dated the amendment to the statute. The better reasoned opinions from several districts recognize and apply the statutory amendments so as to allow an award of attorney fees.

See Special's Trading Co. v. International Consumer Corp., 679

So.2d 369 (Fla. 4th DCA 1966); Tangerine Bav Co. v. Derby Road Investments, 664 So.2d 1045 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995) rev. dism., 669

So.2d 250 (Fla. 1996); Makar. The interpretation given by Crawford effectively negates the statute which provides that a trial court must consider a request for fees after a voluntary dismissal upon motion after a voluntary dismissal. \$768.79(6).

CONCLUSION

The <u>Crawford</u> opinion is misplaced. The analysis is based on language that does not exist under the statute as amended. It further is based upon cases which pre-dated the amendment as well. The better and more logical view is that expressed in the cases which have conflicted with this case, and held that attorneys fees are awardable when a voluntary dismissal is taken.

ICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy of the foregoing has been furnished by U.S. Mail this day of Houng, 1997 to: Michael R.N. McDonnell, Esquire, 1165 8th St. s., Naples, FL 33940.

BOEHM, BROWN, RIGDON, SEACREST & FISCHER, P.A.