047

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MX INVESTMENTS, INC., d/b/a DAYS INN 1-75,

Petitioner,

VS.

CASE NO. 89,623 DCA CASE NO, 95-4099

WILLIAM D. CRAWFORD and JOAN F. CRAWFORD,

Respondents.



RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF

MICHAEL R. N. McDONNELL Florida Bar No. 124032

McDONNELL TRIAL LAWYERS
,The Old Cove Professional Building
1165 Eighth Street South
Naples, Florida 34 102
(941) 434-7711
Attorneys for Respondents

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The plain language of §768.79, Florida Statutes, requires entry of a judgment as a condition precedent for the recovery of attorney fees pursuant to an offer of judgment.

Nowhere in the statute does the legislature provide for an award of attorney fees based upon voluntary dismissal.

In order for this court to adopt the reasoning of the Second District Court of Appeal and allow an award of attorney fees to Petitioner, it would be necessary to ignore the plain language of the statute and base the decision upon the court's own notion of what should be done rather than what is statutorily authorized. Such a result would amount to judicial legislation; supplementing the efforts of the legislature by judicial decree.

ARGUMENT

5768.79, FLORIDA STATUTES DOES NOT AUTHORIZE AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES UPON VOLUNTARY DISMISSAL OF AN ACTION

In this action for damages resulting from personal injury, the Respondents took a voluntary dismissal, without prejudice, pursuant to Rule 1.420(a)(1), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. Subsection (d) of that rule provides only for the imposition of costs, but is silent as to an entitlement to attorney fees. Petitioner sought to impose attorney fees pursuant to §768.79, Florida Statutes, because it served an offer of judgment which was rejected by plaintiffs prior to the voluntary dismissal.

The plain language of §768.79 requires entry of a judgment in favor of a party as a condition precedent for such recovery. Nowhere in the statute does the legislature provide for an award of attorney fees based upon voluntary dismissal. The statute says:

If a defendant serves an offer which is not accepted by the plaintiff, *and if the judgment obtained by the plaintiff* is at least 25 percent less than the amount of the offer, the defendant shall be awarded . . . attorney's fees (emphasis supplied)

as:

The statute, in subsection (6)(b), goes on the define the term "judgment obtained"

... the amount of the net judgment entered, plus any collateral source payments received or due as of the date of judgment entered, plus any post-offer collateral source payments received or due as of the date of the judgment, plus any post-offer settlement amounts by which the verdict was reduced.

The definition is absolutely silent as to voluntary dismissals. Had the legislature

chosen to do so, it could have explicitly provided for attorney fees upon voluntary dismissal, or it could have included the concept of voluntary dismissal in the above definition. However, it did not.

As this court is well aware, upon voluntary dismissal, the trial court loses jurisdiction as to all matters except the imposition of costs. It is without power to enter a defendant's judgment in the main case. It may only enter a cost judgment in favor of the **defendant**. Accordingly, in order for this court to accept defendant/appellant's argument and award attorney fees to defendant/appellant, it would be necessary to ignore the plain language of the statute and base the award upon the court's own notion of what should be done. This would amount to judicial legislation; supplementing the efforts of the legislature by judicial decree.

Petitioner's argument for attorney fees pursuant to §768.79 is completely without legal, factual or statutory basis. Petitioner ignores the plain language of the statute which explicitly and unmistakably requires a "judgment obtained by the plaintiff" as a prerequisite to an award of attorney fees. Where the language of a statute is clear, the court may not go outside the statute to give it a different meaning. **Reed By and Through Lawrence** v. *Bowen*, 503 So.2d 1265 (Fla 2nd DCA 1986) Similarly, in *Makar v*. **Investors Real Estate Management, Inc.**, 553 So.2d 298 (Fla 1st DCA 1989), the court held:

A basic tenet of statutory construction is that "where the language of a statute clearly limits its application to a particular class of cases, leaving no room for doubt as to the intention of the legislature, the statute may not be enlarged or expanded to cover cases not falling within its provisions. (at 299)

Florida law is explicit as to what constitutes a "judgment." The *court* in *Makar* defines "judgment" as "a court's decision on the *merits* as to whether the plaintiff shall obtain the relief sought in the litigation." *Makar* at 299. See also Rule 1.420(a), Fla. R. Civ. P. (Providing *inter alia* that a first dismissal is without prejudice, and only a second dismissal operates as an "adjudication on *the* merits"); *Chassan Professional Wallcovering, Inc. v. Victor Frankel, Inc.,* 608 So.2d 91 (Fla 4th DCA 1992); *Xerox Corp. v. Sharifi,* 502 So.2d 1003 (Fla 5th DCA 1987). Since plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed their claim and the trial court did not render a judgment on the merits, the trial court is without jurisdiction to award attorney fees pursuant to \$768.79.

Indeed, **the court** in *Makar* invited the legislature to change this situation if that was its intent. Subsequent to the decision in *Makar*, the legislature did address \$768.79, but retained the *exact pre-Makar* statutory language pertaining to the entitlement of fees, as is quoted above.

The legislature did amend the statute to provide for the filing of a motion by the offeror within 30 days of judgment, or after voluntary dismissal. §768.79(6) However, the additional language relates only to the time for filing the motion and has nothing whatsoever to do with entitlement to fees under the statute. Having been invited by the

court in *Makar* to address the issue', the legislature did not do so and chose not to change the language regarding entitlement to fees. Petitioner inaccurately attempts to hang its argument upon this inapposite statutory language, asking this court to read between the legislative lines.

Contained within the appendix is a complete copy of the legislative history of the pertinent amendments to \$768.79, Florida Statutes. (Appendix A) Nowhere in these documents will this court **find** any reference to a legislative intent to allow attorney fees upon voluntary dismissal. The legislature could have done that, but it chose not to.

Petitioner argues that the legislative intent was to allow attorney fees upon voluntary dismissal, and points to the additional language of the statute referencing voluntary dismissals. Petitioner overlooks the fact that the additional language pertains only to the time for filing a motion for fees, but does not affect the basis for entitlement to those fees. Defendant would like for the statute to read in its favor, but it does not.

The District Court below, relied on its prior decision in *Makar*, which is directly on point to the instant issue. Based on identical operative statutory language, the court ruled that fees were not allowable when a voluntary dismissal was taken. The court said:

Under section 768.79(1)(a), a defendant is entitled to recover costs and attorney's fees following an offer of judgment that the plaintiff did not accept, "if the judgment obtained by the

The court said, "Unless and until the legislature amends the offer ofjudgment and settlement statutes to apply to voluntary dismissals, plaintiffs should be permitted to exercise their option to dismiss their cause at least once without being subjected to an assessment of attorney's fees. *Makar* at 299

plaintiff is at least 25 percent less than such offer." In order for the defendant to recover, there must be a *judgment* for the plaintiff.

* * *

No judgment was entered in this case, because the case was terminated pursuant to a voluntary dismissal. . . . A voluntary dismissal operates as an adjudication on the merits only when a plaintiff has previously dismissed an action involving the same claim. (At 299)

In the instant case, Respondents have not previously dismissed the action.

Therefore, there has been no adjudication on the merits and no *judgment*.

Petitioner asserts that this court should adopt the decision in *Tampa Letter Carriers, Inc. V. Carrie Mack*, 649 So.2d 890 (Fla 2nd DCA 1995), but that decision does not rule directly on the point at issue. It simply allows for the possibility that entitlement to fees is not eliminated "simply because the case is terminated by a voluntary dismissal." The case does not specify under what circumstances that might occur, and certainly does not address the factual scenario of the instant case. Indeed, *Tampa Letter Carriers* most probably contemplates a second dismissal which would then operate as an adjudication on the merits, possibly giving rise to an entitlement to fees.

The Second District court of Appeal has entered a further decision with regard to this issue.' Respondent contends that this decision, which simply reiterates *Tampa Letter Carriers*, is incorrect, and is a classic example of the inertial effect of *obiter dictum*.

Tampa Letter Carriers, as noted above, simply allows for the possibility of attorney fees

² Tangerine Bay Company v. Derby Road Investments, 664 So.2d 1045 (Fla 2nd DCA 1995)

upon voluntary dismissal. *Tangerine Bay Company* then misconstrues the *dictum* in *Tampa Letter Carriers* as a judicial determination that in all cases attorney fees are allowable after a first voluntary dismissal without prejudice.

The **4th** District Court of Appeal jumped on this inertial bandwagon in its decision in *Special's Trading Co. v. International Consumer Corp.*, 679 **So.2d** 369 (Fla 4th DCA 1966). But none of these cases from these two districts contain a logical analysis of the point at issue. However, **the** decision rendered by the **District** Court below does make a thorough and logical analysis in concluding that the legislature did not create a right to attorney fees subsequent to voluntary dismissal.

CONCLUSION

In giving the operative language of the statute its plain meaning and effect, this court should adopt the decision of the **1st** District Court of Appeal in *MX Investments v*. *Crawford*, Case No. **95-4099** (Fla 1st DCA 1996).